ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RANDY WRIGHT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002130

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
APR 15 2019
SC Court of Appeals

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred when it refused to poll the jury where defense counsel timely requested the jury be polled, since a poll must be taken if the request is made?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 22, 2016, a Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted appellant for the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. R. 502. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Maite Murphy and a jury August 30 – 31, 2017. R. 1. Steve Davis represented appellant; Wilton McNeely and Jordan Smith represented the state. R. 2.

Appellant was convicted and sentenced to incarceration for fifteen years suspended upon the service of ten years' incarceration and five years' probation. R. 498, ll. 16-20.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts of South Carolina review questions of law de novo. *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014); *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013). “We clarify that appellate courts review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of August 8, 2015, Jimmy Taylor was taken to the hospital and received fifteen stitches or staples in his head. R. 502; R. 333, ll. 13-16. Taylor did not have any internal injuries.¹ R. 333, ll. 11-12. How Taylor came to need the stitches was the subject of appellant's trial. Taylor and appellant agreed a physical altercation occurred, but disputed how it unfolded and who was the aggressor. R. 405, ll. 5-9; R. 152, ll. 5-13.

Randy Wright, the appellant, lived "across the way and behind [a] field" from Jimmy Taylor. R. 138, l. 21 – 139, l. 5. Wright was on the way home from work at Swamp Fox Utilities with two of his adult sons, and stopped "at the Country Corner store." R. 399, ll. 6-9; R. 400, ll. 1-21. Wright said he was standing in line when he saw Taylor, who "had two big bottles of Bud Lite" look at him with a "mean look." R. 401, ll. 16-21. "I didn't know what was wrong with him. I had never seen him act like that." R. 401, ll. 22-23.

Wright left the store and headed home, and said that Taylor drove up behind him and began to tail him aggressively. R. 402, ll. 12-14; R. 403, ll. 15-19. "He'd rush up on my bumper, stay there, you know, real close." R. 403, ll. 22-23. Wright said: "I put my blinker on and went to turn in, and just as I turned in, something hit the back of my truck. R. 403, l. 23 – 404, l. 1. After the beer bottle hit his truck, Wright "want[ed] to find out what [Taylor's] problem was with me." R. 404, ll. 4-12; R. 418, ll. 17-20. "[M]e and him ain't never had any problems, so I didn't know." R. 404, ll. 12-13.

Wright said he went to Taylor's house, where Taylor was at his truck. R. 404, ll. 13-20. "I said, what's your problem with me? What have I done to you?" R. 404, ll. 21-23. Wright said

¹ Taylor did not have any internal bleeding or broken bones, but required sutures to his scalp and had bruises on his side. R. 346, l. 23 – 347, l. 3; R. 333, ll. 4-5; R. 333, ll. 16-22; R. 341, ll. 16-25.

Taylor reached behind the seat of his truck and grabbed a club. R. 404, ll. 24-25. “[H]e said, I’m going to show you. And he squared back and caught me in my kneecap with the club.” R. 405, ll. 7-9.

“[O]ne of my sons² had come beside me,” and Taylor “caught [my son] in the ribs with [the club]. And about that time, my other son had come up.” R. 405, ll. 5-13. Wright admitted that one of his sons struck Taylor while coming to his defense, but said: “I was on the bottom of the pile. I can’t tell you [which one].” R. 406, ll. 18-23.

Taylor alleged Wright passed him, and someone threw a beer bottle at Taylor’s truck. R. 148, l. 25 – 149, l. 21. According to Taylor, Wright and his sons came up to Taylor in his driveway and Wright said “he was going to F me up.” R. 150, l. 24 – 151, l. 5; R. 152, ll. 3-5. Taylor claimed he was hit in the head with a metal instrument by Shawn. R. 152, l. 12 – 153, l. 2; R. 157, ll. 20-22. According to Taylor, all three men then began to hit him. R. 154, ll. 17-20. Taylor denied that he pulled a baseball bat out of his truck and attacked Wright. R. 191, ll. 9-12.

Verdict

The jury deliberated for two hours, asking to be re-charged on the elements of ABHAN and its lesser included-offenses. R. 484, l. 7 – 487, l. 16; R. 501. A verdict of guilty was later published by the clerk. R. 487, l. 25 – 488, l. 6.

The clerk said: “Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, if this is your verdict, would you please signify by raising your right hand?” R. 488, ll. 7-9. The transcript reflects the jury “raised hands.” R. 488, l. 10. The court immediately told the jury: “Thank you ladies and gentlemen. If you would please go to the jury room for the very last time, I will be in there to release you

² Wright told Detective Ward that his sons Adam and Randy, Jr., were with him, but testified that he gets his kids “mixed up” sometimes, and that it was actually Adam and Shawn who were with him. R. 417, ll. 7-15.

momentarily.” R. 488, ll. 11-14. The court asked the attorneys: “Anything before I release the jury?” R. 488, ll. 17-18.

Defense counsel asked to approach the bench, and after a bench conference transpired, defense counsel put on the record that he requested the court poll the jury. R. 488, l. 19 – 489, l. 8. Counsel noted that state law “provide[s] for a process where you can ask for a polling of the jury.” R. 488, l. 19 – 489, l. 2. Defense counsel said: “I am aware that they all raised their hands, but that’s a continuation—that would be a group aspect polling of the jury.” R. 489, ll. 3-5. A party may “[r]equire an individual—calling out each specific juror, and I respectfully request that at this time, Your Honor.” R. 489, ll. 5-8.

The court refused to poll the jury, although it had not yet been released. R. 489, ll. 9-17. “[T]he Clerk did ask them, is this your verdict, and each of the jurors raised their hand individually. They looked around and raised their hand individually, and that’s on the record. Your request is respectfully denied.” R. 489, ll. 10-15.

Randy Wright was sentenced to serve an active prison term of ten years. R. 504.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it refused to poll the jury where defense counsel timely requested the jury be polled, since a poll must be taken if the request is made.

The court asked the parties if there were any other matters before it released the jury, and the defense requested the court poll the jury. The court's refusal to poll the jury was error. "A trial judge must conduct a jury poll if requested by either party." *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 196, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002). "The trial judge must be satisfied that the verdict is unanimous and must conduct a jury poll at the request of either party." *State v. Kelly*, 372 S.C. 167, 170, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007).

While the manner of polling is up to the judge, polling must be a query of **each** juror individually. "Polling is a practice whereby the court determines from the jurors **individually** whether they assented and still assent to the verdict." *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 308, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981) (emphasis added). "To poll the jury means to examine each juror **separately**, after a verdict has been given, as to his concurrence in the verdict." *State v. Sanders*, 251 S.C. 431, 436, 163 S.E.2d 220, 224 (1968) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition). *State v. Roper*, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979) (manner of trial judge's polling of the jury was not coercive because it was necessary that the court ask follow-up questions in order that the record accurately reflect the position of the juror).

A close reading of *State v. Linder, supra*, is instructive here. Linder was a death penalty case, and the court polled the jury when it returned a guilty verdict, but refused the defense's request to poll the jury as to the sentencing phase. *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 308, 278 S.E.2d at 337. The defense asked the court to poll the jury to "determine whether the death sentence remained

each juror's recommendation." *Id.* Instead, the trial judge asked the foreman whether each juror had signed the recommendation, and found the foreman's affirmative reply served in place of a poll. *Id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court found this error required reversal. *Id.* "The trial judge must be satisfied that the verdict is unanimous. A jury poll is not absolutely required if the trial judge is otherwise assured that the above requirements have been met and if no request for a poll has been made by a party." *Id.* at 309, 278 S.E.2d at 338.

"Whether a poll of the jury will be conducted is discretionary with the trial judge unless a polling is requested. **If the request is made, a poll must be taken. We establish this rule to dispel any doubt a party might entertain as to the propriety of a jury verdict as rendered.**" *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 309, 278 S.E.2d at 338. (emphasis added).

The object of a jury poll "is to ascertain for a certainty that each of the jurors approves of the verdict as returned; that no one has been coerced or induced to sign a verdict to which he does not fully assent." *Humphries v. District of Columbia*, 174 U.S. 190, 194 (1899). "Courts have recognized that the chief purpose behind an individual poll of jurors is to enable a juror to express any reservation he may have about the verdict free from the pressure of his fellow jurors." *State v. Tennant*, 319 S.E.2d 395, 399 (W.Va. 1984). "[M]embers of a group may react differently when addressed as a group, and when addressed individually." *State v. Pare*, 755 A.2d 180, 193 (Conn. 2000).

"[T]he right to poll the jury, although not constitutional, is nonetheless a substantial right." *United States v. Randle*, 966 F.2d 1209, 1214 (7th Cir. 1992). "The right to poll the jury at the return of the verdict is a corollary to the defendant's right to a unanimous verdict." *State v. Behnke*, 456 N.W.2d 610, 612 (Wis. 1990).

State v. Pare, supra, is analogous to the case at hand. Connecticut had a state practice rule similar to South Carolina's mandate in *Linder* that if a request is made, a poll must be taken. *Id.* at 182. In *Pare*, the court asked the jury collectively about the verdict, and the jury collectively responded that the verdict was unanimous. *Id.* at 184-85. Pare's defense counsel requested that the jurors be polled, but the court refused: "I was looking right at the jury, they all nodded and answered yes to my questions, so I'll deny your request." *Id.* at 186.

The Connecticut Supreme Court found the trial court's failure to conduct a poll was "not subject to harmless error analysis but, rather, requires automatic reversal of the defendant's conviction," because there is no way to ascertain the effects of a poll not taken. *Id.* at 194.

The weight of authority from other states also finds reversible error results from failure to conduct a mandatory poll. "The right to a poll of the jury is a material right derived from the common law. In criminal cases the right to poll the jury is not discretionary, and the denial of that right when timely requested is reversible error." *Rinker v. State*, 492 S.E.2d 746, 747 (Ga. App. 1997) (internal alternations and punctuation omitted). "[T]he denial of one's right to poll the jury dictates that a new trial be awarded." *Commonwealth v. Downey*, 732 A.2d 593, 595 (Pa. 1999). *State v. Behnke*, 456 N.W.2d at 614 (failure to poll jury without the defendant's knowing, voluntary, and unequivocal waiver is grounds for automatic reversal: "Prejudice is presumed."); *State v. Pockert*, 746 P.2d 839, 841 (Wash. App. 1987) (failure to poll jury upon defendant's request is reversible error, even absent any showing of prejudice).

Here, the court asked the parties if they had any matters to address before it released the jury. Defense counsel moved to poll the jury, and correctly explained that although the jurors raised their hands, "that's a continuation—that would be a group aspect polling of the jury." R. 489, ll. 3-5. Counsel requested an individual query of each juror. R. 489, ll. 5-8. "Polling is a