ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
The Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-002130

RECEIVED
APR 12 2019
SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Randy Wright,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

Scarlett A. Wilson
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly determined each juror concurred in the verdict because each individual juror affirmed their concurrence in open court by raising their hand when the clerk asked the jurors to indicate if the published verdict was their verdict.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In March 2016, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Randy Wright on one count of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, arising from an altercation between Appellant and Jimmy Taylor ("Taylor") on August 8, 2015. The case was called for a jury trial on August 30, 2017, before the Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge.

Dale Williams testified he lived next door to Taylor, and around 8:00 or 9:00 p.m. on August 8, 2015, he was home watching television when his dog started barking. He went to his front porch and saw a group of people in Taylor's driveway. As he stood on his porch, Williams saw Taylor get up off the ground and start coming up the driveway, and heard Taylor yelling for his girlfriend to call 911. The other people in the driveway went to a truck parked at the end of the street, and quickly drove away.

When Taylor got closer to Williams' house, Williams saw that Taylor was bleeding from a wound on his head. Williams told Taylor to come over to his house, Williams wrapped a towel around Taylor's head to stop the bleeding, and saw that Taylor was "beat pretty severely." While they waited for an ambulance, Taylor told Williams the people who beat him were Appellant and two other people. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 52-62; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 52-62).

Williams' wife Deanna testified she was also at home the night of the altercation, and described Taylor as "covered in blood." She was on the phone with emergency services while they waited on her porch for an ambulance. While they waited, Taylor stated Appellant and his two sons jumped him in his driveway. (TT, pp. 75-87; R., pp. 75-87).

Taylor's sister testified she went to the hospital when she learned Taylor had been injured. She saw Taylor in the emergency room, and described him as "a mess," with staples in the wound on his head, and bad bruising on his face and body. (TT, pp. 92-109; R., pp. 92-109).

Taylor testified he met Appellant and his sons approximately a year before the altercation when a friend brought them to Taylor's house to help fix Taylor's truck. He had no further contact with Appellant until approximately six months later when Appellant approached him in the grocery store and stated he did not appreciate Taylor talking about his family. (TT, pp. 134-142; R., pp. 134-142).

On August 8, 2015, Taylor went shopping at the Goodwill Store, and then stopped to eat. He started home around 8:00 p.m., and stopped at a convenience store on the way home to buy cigarettes and sodas. As he pulled out of the convenience store parking lot, he saw Appellant and his sons sitting in a truck parked across the street. When he left the parking lot, Appellant pulled out behind him and followed as he drove home. As he turned onto the road leading to his house, Appellant passed him, and someone threw a bottle out of the passenger window, which hit the front and right turn signal light of Taylor's truck. (TT, pp. 142-149; R., pp. 142-149).

After the bottle hit Taylor's truck, Appellant turned into a road before the driveway to Taylor's house. Taylor pulled into his driveway, and when he got out of his truck to unlock the driveway gate, Appellant and his sons approached him. Appellant stated he was going to "f***" Taylor up. Immediately thereafter, one of Appellant's sons hit Taylor in his left eye with a metal object. After he was hit multiple times, Taylor fell to the ground, and Appellant and his sons continued to hit and kick him until Williams came outside. When Williams came onto his porch, Appellant and his sons ran to Appellant's truck, which was parked down the street from Taylor's driveway. Taylor testified he never struck Appellant or his sons. (TT, pp. 149-179; R., pp. 149-179).

Appellant was arrested on August 19, 2015. He initially told the police he had not been involved in an altercation with Taylor, but subsequently stated he and his sons confronted Taylor

after he threw a bottle at Appellant's truck. He further stated Taylor got a club out of his truck and started hitting Appellant on the leg. Appellant claimed his sons tried to block Taylor from hitting him, and Appellant grabbed Taylor by the waist and threw him to the ground. He stated they left when Taylor said he was going to call the police. (TT, pp. 233-271; R., pp. 233-271).

Appellant testified Taylor followed him from the convenience store, and threw a bottle at the back of Appellant's truck. He stated he went to Taylor's house to ask him what was wrong, but Taylor grabbed a club out of his truck and hit Appellant. Appellant testified Taylor was intoxicated, and tried to choke Appellant by holding the club on his neck from behind. His sons tried to pull Taylor off Appellant. Everyone ended up on the ground, and Appellant testified Taylor said he was going to his house to get a gun, so he and his sons left. Appellant testified he had no idea why Taylor attacked him. (TT, pp. 395-415; R., pp. 395-415).

On cross-examination, Appellant stated he did not tell the truth about which sons were with him that night because he was "confused," but denied he changed his story about what happened after the police told him Taylor had identified him. He admitted he did not file a police report or seek any medical care for the injuries he purportedly sustained when Taylor hit him with the club, but claimed he tried to show the police the injury to his knee when he spoke with them, but they would not look at it. Appellant also testified he had no idea how Taylor sustained a head injury or bruises. (TT, pp. 415-422; R., pp. 415-422).

The circuit court charged the jury on the elements of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, assault and battery first degree, assault and battery second degree and assault and battery third degree. During deliberations, the jury asked for the definitions of assault and battery first, second and third degree. With agreement of counsel, the court sent the written charges regarding those charges to the jury. (TT, pp. 477-487; R., pp. 477-487).

After deliberating for approximately a total of two hours, the jury convicted Appellant of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. After announcing the verdict, the clerk asked jurors to signify that was their verdict by raising their right hands, and all jurors raised their hands. The court sent the jury back to the jury room until they were released. Appellant then acknowledged all the jurors raised their hands, but requested further polling by asking each juror to state individually he or she concurred in the verdict. The court denied the request, noting the clerk asked the jurors to raise their hands if the verdict announced was their verdict, and "they raised their hand individually" in response. (TT, pp. 485-489; R., pp. 485-489).

The court sentenced Appellant to fifteen years incarceration, suspended to ten years incarceration and five years probation. (TT, pp. 496-498; R., pp. 496-498). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in South Carolina's appellate courts depends on the specific issue presented. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018). The courts give great deference to the trial court's findings of fact, but reviews questions of law *de novo*. *Id.* In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 779 S.E.2d 789, 791 (2015). Matters within the trial court's discretion will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268, 270 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly determined each juror concurred in the verdict because each individual juror affirmed their concurrence in open court by raising their hand when the clerk asked the jurors to indicate if the published verdict was their verdict.

Relying primarily on State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 278 S.E.2d 335 (1981), and case law from other jurisdictions, Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for individual verbal polling of the jurors, and the error mandates reversal of his conviction. Appellant's contention is premised on an expansive interpretation of Linder, and his reliance on it is misplaced. Further, if the circuit court erred in denying Appellant's request, the error is harmless based on the circumstances of this case.

The trial judge must be satisfied the verdict is unanimous, and must conduct a jury poll at the request of either party. Linder, 278 S.E.2d at 338. Polling is intended to provide the trial court a method to determine jurors individually "assented [to] and still assent to the verdict." *Id.*; see also State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007) (same). The trial judge is not required to poll the jury if the court is satisfied the verdict is unanimous, but must conduct a poll if either party requests it. Linder, 278 S.E.2d at 838. Polling the jury means examining the jurors separately as to his concurrence in the verdict. State v. Sanders, 251 S.C. 431, 163 S.E.2d 220, 224 (1968) (*citing* Black's Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition, Page 1320).

The right to a jury poll is not a constitutional right. United States v. Carter, 772 F.2d 66, 67 (4th Cir. 1985) (the right to a poll is not "of constitutional dimension," and the trial judge's collective polling did not violate the defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict); United States v. Miller, 59 F.3d 417, 419 (3rd Cir. 1995) (right to a jury poll is not constitutional, but is rooted in early common law). While acknowledging the significance of a defendant's right

to a jury poll upon request, the Linder court did not mandate any particular method of conducting the poll. 278 S.E.2d at 337-338. In the absence of a mandated procedure to conduct a requested jury poll, the court necessarily left the method of conducting the poll to the trial judge's discretion.

In this case, the circuit court assured each juror separately concurred in the verdict as announced by a show of hands. While the court did not conduct an individual verbal inquiry to each juror, the polling method used certainly achieved the goal of Linder by giving each individual juror the opportunity to express disagreement. Unlike a group question and a group verbal response, where individual assent may be difficult to ascertain, the poll taken allowed the court to easily discern if one or more of the jurors did not raise his or her hand.

Linder is distinguishable from the instant case. In Linder, the trial judge asked the jury foreman if each juror had signed the statutorily required form indicating the jury's recommendation to impose the death penalty. The form was signed in the jury room, and the jurors were not polled in open court, either collectively or individually, as to their assent to the recommendation. The Supreme Court reversed the conviction and sentence, finding, *inter alia*, the trial judge erred by accepting the jury foreman's attestation of the jurors' unanimity. 278 S.E.2d at 338.

Contrary to mere acceptance of the jury foreman's attestation of unanimity, the jurors in the instant case were asked in open court, in the circuit court's presence, to confirm the verdict rendered was their verdict. Each individual juror raised his/her hand in response to the question, and nothing in the record indicates hesitation or uncertainty on the part of any juror. The circuit court was in the best position to observe the jurors as they responded, and determined the verdict was unanimous based on those observations. (TT, pp. 488-489; R., pp. 488-489).

The case law Appellant cites from other jurisdictions is likewise distinguishable. See United States v. Randle, 966 F.2d 1209, 1214 (7th Cir. 1992)(federal criminal procedure rule required a poll if requested; no jury poll conducted); State v. Pare, 755 A.2d 180, 194-196 (Conn. 2000)(court rule required jury poll if requested and specifically set forth procedure of asking each juror individually to affirm agreement with the verdict; collective poll violated the rule, and required reversal); Commonwealth v. Downey, 732 A.2d 593 (Pa. 1999)(criminal procedure rule required jury poll if requested; trial court erred in refusing timely request for a jury poll); Rinker v. State, 492 S.E.2d 746 (Ga. App. 1997)(denial of defendant's timely request for a jury poll was reversible error; no jury poll conducted); State v. Behnke, 456 N.W.2d 610, 64 (Wis. 1990)(combination of violation of defendant's constitutional right to counsel when the verdict was rendered in defense counsel's absence and no jury poll mandated reversal); State v. Pockert, 746 P.2d 839, 840 (Wash. App. 1987)(criminal procedure rule required jury poll; judge refused request for jury poll); State v. Tennant, 319 S.E.2d 395 (W.Va. 1984)(juror expressed disagreement with the verdict during poll and trial judge's subsequent questioning of the juror was coercive). Contrary to these cases, there is no South Carolina case or procedure rule indicating a collective jury poll, with each juror showing concurrence in the verdict by a show of hands in the trial court's presence, does not meet the requirement of Linder.¹

Appellant's contention the denial of his request for further polling of the jury mandates reversal of his conviction places form over substance, and requires pure speculation regarding the impact of an individual poll. "It must be rare that members of a jury would listen to, or speak

¹In Carter, the Fourth Circuit acknowledged Rule 31, FRCP merely mandated a jury poll if requested, the manner of conducting the poll was discretionary with the trial court and the collective poll conducted was not reversible error, but "strongly suggest[ed]" the district courts in future cases should ask each juror to respond individually whether he agrees with the verdict. 772 F.2d at 68. Rule 31 was amended in 1998 to specifically require "individual" polling of each juror.

collectively in support of, their foreman, and immediately thereafter contradict themselves if asked to speak individually.” Jaca Hernandez v. Delgado, 375 F.2d 584, 586 (1st Cir. 1967)(explaining why a defendant might think it pointless to require a jury poll). By comparison, it is difficult to imagine how asking jurors to respond collectively, particularly by a show of hands, is more coercive than singling out each individual juror to respond to the same question. Indeed, asking each juror individually to affirm or disavow the verdict in the presence of the other jurors would rationally be more coercive, and less likely to encourage the individuals to dissent after the verdict has been announced. Thus, provided a request for a jury poll is not denied, the trial judge should be permitted to exercise its discretion to poll the jury in the manner it deems most likely to assure individual assent without coercion.

Significantly, Appellant raises no other issue regarding the circuit court’s rulings during the trial. As the United States Supreme Court noted in Humphries v. District of Columbia, 174 U.S. 190 (1899), while the right to poll a jury exists, the “minor matter of failing to poll the jury” does not render the verdict null and void when it is clear the verdict received the assent of all the jurors. *Id.* at 194-195. The record in this case amply supports the circuit court’s determination all the jurors concurred in the verdict as announced.

If this Court determines the circuit court erred by failing to further poll the jurors, the error is harmless. This case was a relatively straightforward two day trial from jury selection to verdict, and it primarily rested on the jurors assessing the credibility of the victim and Appellant. During deliberations, the jury requested the definition of the three charges against Appellant (assault and battery first, second and third degree), and with agreement of counsel, the circuit court sent the jury a written copy of the instructions as originally given. The jury reached its verdict after deliberating for a total of approximately two hours. (TT, pp. 485-488; R., pp. 485-

488). There is no indication the jury struggled to reach a verdict, and as stated above, nothing in the record indicates any of the jurors hesitated in responding affirmatively with a show of hands to the question of whether the verdict as announced was their verdict.

Finally, in light of the fact Linder requires a jury poll if requested, but does not mandate a particular method of polling, the circuit court acted well within current law in determining the collective poll with a show of hands in the court's presence was sufficient, and its ruling should be affirmed. If this Court determines each juror must be asked individually to verbally affirm the announced verdict is his/her verdict, for the benefit of the bench and bar in future cases, the State submits this Court should clarify what type of poll is mandated under Linder, but should not reverse Appellant's valid conviction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully submits the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.